Attachment B - Consultant Report CENT L. SEAVEY

310 LIGHTHOUSE AVENUE
PACIFIC GROVE, CALIFORINIA 93950
(831)375.8739

May 7, 2015

MAY 0 7 2015
Mr. Mark Weiner /Senior Planner City of Camei-by-te.se.
Carmel Planning & Building Department Planning & Bullding Depy.
City of Carmel by-the-Sea FCS
P.O. Drawer G

Carmel, CA 93921
Dear Mr. Weiner:

Thank you for the opportunity to review the proposed Carmel
Mission Phase II Master Plan (3080 Mission Rd., APN# 009-531-003)
in Carmel, for consistency of the proposed changes with the Secretary
of the Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties.

The Secretary’s Standards identify four primary treatment
approaches to historic buildings. They are Restoration, Preservation,
Reconstruction and Rehabilitation. Rehabilitation is the Standard
being employed for the Carmel Mission project.

Rehabilitation is defined as the act or process of making a
compatible use for a property through repair, alterations, and
additions while preserving those portions or features which convey its
historical, cultural, or architectural values.

The Secretary’s Standards encourages “placing a new addition
on a non-character-defining elevation.” and locating alterations to
historic properties in areas where previous alterations already exist.

As stated in the 1992 National Park Service lllustrated
Guidelines for Rehabilitating Historic Buildings, “The Standards are
to be applied to specific rehabilitation projects in a reasonable
manner, taking into consideration economic and technical feasibility.”

Character-defining features and significance ratings are found
in the Carmel Mission Basilica Historic Structures Report (HSR), By
The Architectural Resource Group of San Francisco, dated August
2010 (copy of the HRS is on file with the City of Carmel by-the-Sea).

The subject property is owned by Diocese of Monterey, a Corp.,
Sole, which proposes to slightly modify the existing design of the
Convento and Mora Chapel; Gift Store; Downie Orientation Center
(museum); Entry Arch; Blessed Sacrament Chapel; Orchard House
Complex & Outdoor Spaces (See plans & drawings w/photos
provided).
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The primary purpose of the proposed work is to update the
existing infrastructure including a new bathroom space; provide for
seismic safety; establish an overall safe path of travel for handicapped
access; Improve parking and visitor access to the Downie Museum
space & Mission Basilica; replace the existing deterforated hardscape
in both the Basilica Forecourt & Quadrangle and stightly modify the
roof structure of the ¢. 1870 Carriage gate, for needed event and
mamtenance access (see pliotos and plans & drawings provided).

As noted abeve, the Standarde recorumend new additions be
placed on secendary elevations, and where alteration has already
occurred. In general, the proposed changes to the subject property
are on secondary altered elevations.

As proposed, the work shall reuse, to the extent feasible,
available historic building materials, and where necessary match
required replacement features fn kind. New work, particularly in the
area of the National Historic Landmark listed Basilica, is
differentiated from the old, but compatible with the size, scale,
proportions and massing to protect the integrity of the subject
property and its environment. If removed in the future, the essential
form and integrity of the national historic property and its
environment will be unimpaired.

The subject property was listed as a National Historic Landmark
in 1982, and listed on the National Register of Historic Places in
1967. It is also listed in the 2008 Carmel Historic Resource Inventory,
and the California Register of Historical Resources at the national
level of significance (see Statement of Significance on P. 37 of the HSR
on file with the City of Carmel by-the-Sea).

NOTE: For an historic chronclogy and description of the subject
property during its period of significance, between 1793 and 1947,
refer to pp. 21-39 in the HSR noted above (also see colorad
chronclogical floor plan provided).

In every rehabliitation profect, caution should be exercised in
pursuing any plan that would radicaily change character-defining
spaces or obscure, damage or destroy historic features or finishes.

The owners have proposed the following alterations and
additions for contemporary usage:

()
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FRONT (EAST) ELEVATION (primary, altered)

As proposed, the northern parking lot area will be regraded to
provide for better drainage, handicapped parking and new paihs of
travel and entries to access the Rasilica forecourt and Museum Store
(see plan sheets A-2.1; C-1.1; A-8 and A-52).

The Secretury’s Standards jor Rehabilitation recommernd
designing and instailing additional enirances, or porches when
required for the new use in a manner that preserves the historic
character qf the building(s), l.e. limiting such alteration to non
character-defining elevations.

In this instance, the proposed alterations would include a
partial reconstruciion of a ¢. 1928-1988 curviiinear arch, over ihe
entry gate fronting the forecourt, that was previcusly removed for
condition issues. The new feature will match, in kind, the previous
arch.

it would alsec include removing part of the existing nonhistoric
plaster wall, where it abuis the Qift Store wall of the 1841 Convento
Building, to provide a pedesirian entry with new wood gates,
matching the existing gates of the current entry (see plans &
drawings, Sheet A-14 & A-17 provided). The existing eniry gate is
reguired to provide vehicular access during funerals and other
church related functions.

Ag proposed a window and deor at the north end of the cast

facade of the Gifi Store would be physically switched to provide
for beiter traffic flow inic the 1841 Cift Shop area. The existing deor
aind windew, including the raetal griile will be used in this transfer,
wiih miner cut and fli necessary n the respective voids. A simple
redwood frellis w/piantings would surround the raoved deor.

An existing window on the east end of the north side-slevation
of the Gift Shop is proposed for replacement with a Duich-door Heket
window, serving the proposed Entry Patio, 28 part of the new path-of-
fravel design. The new doorway wil! a!so provide code required
emergency sgrees from the gift shop area (sec plans & drawings Sheet
A-13, A-16, A-18 & A-32 provided).

The only other changes proposed for the east facing facade will
be = slight raising of the path-of-travel to the souih end of the 1847
Blessed Sacrament Chapel. This will reguire 2 new set of conerete
statrs to accomumodate the increased porch height, and permanent
planter boxes in the two south bays of the building to address code
required ralling heights (see plans & drawings, Shest A-18 provided).
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The proposed changes along the east facing facade of the Gift
Shop and Blessed Sacrament Chapel, while on a character-defining
elevation, are primarily related to code required ADA compliance.
They consist of minor grade level and parking adjustments for a
handicapped path of travel: replacement of an historic entry gate
arch; minor reconfiguration of a window and door, and one window
change to a door.

All proposed alterations are on 1841 and 1847 additions to the
historic property, They have been designed so that there is the least
possible joss of historic materials, and that the character-defining
features of the historic property are not obscured, damaged or
destroyed. They are consistent with the Secretary of the Interior’s
Standards for Rehabilitation.

BASILICA FORECOURT & DOWNIE MUSEUM (primary, altered)

As proposed, a portion of the existing concrete pavement in the
Basilica Forecourt will be removed to atlow for ADA grading and
uiility upgrading, then it will be replaced in kind, over the new
grades. Modified ADA paths of travel will connect the Forecourt
entryway to the Downie Orientation Center Buflding amd restrocms,
to the Basilica and to the Mora Chapel Bullding: there will be some
docr swing reversals for code required exiting {(see plan sheets A-2.1;
C-1.1; C-2.1 and A-8, A-15; & A-15).

The Secretory’s Standards jor Rehebiiitation recommend
identifying bulidings and thelr features as weil as jeatures of the
site that are importani in defining its overall historic character. Stle

Jeatures can inciude waliaways, lighting, fencing, signs, benches,
SJountaine terraces, plants, irees and archaeoiogical features thai
are imporiont in dejining the history of the site. and by proteciing
and maintaining the historic resovrce by providing proper drainage.
Designing ramps when required by ihe new use so that they aie as
unobtrusive as possible.

As preposed, the poriion of the concrete pavement to be
removed, when replaced, wiil include ADA ramping to connect the
entryway and arrival patio with existing access points for the
fountain, gardens, Downie Orientation Center & restrooms, to include
a new ramp connecting the Forecourt to the western exit point
adjacent to the Indian Ceraetery, Utllity and drainage upgrading will
also be undertaken, with the least possible soil disturbance.
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[Cis recommended that the new concrete paving employ an
appropriate earth tone tint consistent with the historic character of
the Forecourt setting {see plans & drawings, sheet C-1.1 provided).

1921-1924 Downie/Orientation Center (primary, altered)

Soil disturbance around the budlding will be minimized,
reducing the possibility of disturbing unknown archeological
maierials. The preference for needed code com Plant barriers should
be plant material rather than walls or railings, if feasible, to help
maintain the historic relationship between buildings, landscape
features and open space.

As proposed, the building envelope will be seismically retrofitted
(scc plans & drawings, sheet A-22 provided).

The proposed acceasible family bathroom will be located in an
existing storage room on the NW side of the orientation center,
consistent with Rehabilitation Standards #0 & #£10 (see copy of the
Secretary’s Rehabilitation Standards provided). Only the existing door
will need to be slightly modified to provide accessibility.

One partial-width, interior adobe wall s proposed for removal in
order to expand the interpretive space, The work should be
undertaken in such a manner that this feature can be replaced in
future, consistent with Rehabilitation Standard #10.

Some existing modern access steps o the orientation center are
propesed for minor height adjustment, based on the reconfiguration.
for codle cormpliant ADA ramping. The changes will not significantly
affect the characﬁer-deﬂnirg features of the building (see plans &
drawings, sheet A-8 & A-1 provided),

The treatments, as proposed, for the Basilica Foreoourt and
Downie Museum /Orientation Center are consistent with the Secretary
of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation.

1921-1924 MORA CHAPEL (primary, altered)

The Secretary’s Standords for Rehabilitation recommend
ideniifying, retatning and preserving a floor plan or interior spaces
that are important in deflning the overail character of a building.
This includes the size, coifigurailon, proportion and relationship of
rooms, corridors, features and spaces.

As proposed, the Mora Chapel will undergo minor selsmic
retrofitting;
o
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cleaning and conservation, as necessary; add some new,
nonpermanent exhibit panels and cases; A new interior window in the
doorway leading to the Convento Museum space, and minor
modification (reverse swing) of the three existing exterior doors, for
code required emergency egresa. The floor of the south, facing 1947
Loggla will have a new, ADA accesslble boardwalk, and reversible
Interpretive panels in the voids between the fwo westernmost support
columns {see plans & drawings, sheets A-8, A-0, A-18, A-23 & A-26
provided).

The ireatments, as proposed, for the Mora Chapel are consisient
with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation.

1932-1941 CONVENTO MUSEUM WING (secondary, altered)

As proposed, the Convento Museum wing (east & west) will
undergo needed seismic retrofitting & reinforcement: cleaning and
conservaiion, as necessary; add some nevw, nonpermanent exhibit
panele and cases; remove steps & guardrail from interior access door
to the Mora Chapel and fill in the existing staircase; add header for
proposed window separating the museum space from the Mora
Chapel

Add nevw siructural shear walls of adobe w/footings in the
kitchen area as nesded for structursl strengthening, while retaining
existing interlor adobe walls, to the extent fRagible or life safety; add
new adobe shear wall in Library space for siructural strengthening;
expand adobe depth to the west walls of the Grand Sala and Serra's
Cell for structural sivengthening,

Rermnove existing east/west partition walls in the Corridor
leading fo the Cift Shop, and relocate south, to case proposed
ataircase. A new adobe wall will frame the west end of the staircase; a
dumbwaiter is proposed for the SE corner of the staircase enclosure
to move cbject to the attic storage space. A new door is proposed for
the Cift Shop, providing sccess to the staircase enclesure.

Two existing deors on the south wall of the 1941 Convento
Museum wiil provide code required Smergency egress accessing the
proposed ADA boardwalk in the 1947 Loggia (see plans & drawings,
sheets A-10, A-11, A-28 thru A-25, A-27, A-30 and C2.1 provided).

The treatments, as proposed, for the Convento Museum space

)
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1947 BLESSED SACRAMENT CHAPEL (primary)

L.

As proposed, the Blessed Sacrament Chapel will undergo
needed selsmic reirofitiing & reinforcement cleaning and
coneervation, as necessary; and the addition of ADA accessible
boardweilks covering the Loggia ou both the east and weet alevations.

A mew code required handicapped access ramp to the 1947
Leggia from the Main Quadrangle Is propesed for the west elevation.

A iow, shed roof was added (¢ 1970), above ihe Harry Downie
designed wooden carriage gates, that connect the Blessed Sacrament
Chapel to the Rectory Building in the SE corner of the Main
Quadrangie. This nonhistoric feature Impedes iarge delivery vehicles
and building equipment from access to fhe Main Quadrangle and is
proposed for removal, as it seresns visual acesss to ona of Mr.
Downie’s later projects. (sce plans & drawings, sheets A-20, A-25 and
C2.1 provided).

The ireatments, as proposed, for the Rlessed Sacrament Chapel
Space are congistent with the Secretary of the Intarior's Standarde for
Rehabiiitation,

1960 MAIN QUADRANGLE (secondary, altered)

The Secretary’s Standards for Rehabiittation recommend
proteciing and mainiaining bulidings and the site by providing
proper drainage to assure that water does not erocde foundation
wealls; droin towards buildings; nor erode the fistoric landscape,
Repiccing in kind an entire feature of the buiiding or site that is ioo
deteriorated to repair-if the overall Jorm and detailling are stiil
evident-using ihe physical evidenca ic guide the new woric,

As proposed, the existing 1960 concrets Main Quadrangle will
be removed o provide for neadad drainage, sewage, storm water and
other infrastiucture Improvements,including some additional
planting areas. Once this work is finished the new pavement will be
laid, matching in kind the existing pavement pattern/type. Existing
planter areas will be regraded and replanted (see plans & drawings,
sheets C-1 thru C-4.1 provided).

The treatments, as proposed, for the Main PQuadrangle are
congistent with the Secretary of the Interlor's Stemdards for
Rehabilitation.
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Proposed New Restroom (secondary)

The Secretary’s Standards for Rehabilliation recommend
designing new exterior additions to historic buildings or adjacent
new consiyuction. which is compatible with the hisioric character of
ihe site and which preserve the historic relationship between a
buliding or bulldings, londscape features, and open space

As proposed, the new restroom wiil be located in the SW corner
of the Main Quadrangie, adjacent to the Junipero Serra School well
away from the principal historic components of the biission complex.

The design of the feature is in the form of a simaple rectangle,
with 2 hipped roof with Mission tile. The oniy fenestration being two
sraall multi-paned wood windows, high in the wall of the east facing
facade. The eniry being screened by a high stuccoed panel. The
exterior finish is stuceo with a skmple pebbled texture, matching an
existing modern restrocm near the Munras Courtyard. The feature
will be constructed over pre-existing pavement.

(see plans & drawings, sheets A-12, C-4.1 provided).

As noted above, the Standards recomymend new additions be
placed on secondary elevations, and where ziteration has alreacly
occurred. The proposed changes to the Carmel Mission and its
dependencies are generally on secondary or altered elevations.

As propcsed, the work shali reuse, to the extent feasibie,
availabie historic building materials, and where necessary match
required replacement features in kind. New work, primarily the new
resiroom buliding, will be clearly differentiated from the old, but
compatible with the size, scale, proportions and massing to protect
the integrity of the subject property and its environment. If removed
in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic property
and its environment will be unimpaired.

CONCLUSION

The subject property retains a sufficient degree of physical
Integrity as constructed in 1797, and subsequently restored, to evoke
a strong sense of time and place and of feeling and association with
the founding, and subsequent expansion of the Catholic Mission
chain in Alta California.

&
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It is also significant for its association with Fra. J unipero Serra,
O.F.M., the Father Presidente of the California Mission Field, and the
only California cleric to be raised to Sainthood by the Catholic
Chwirch. It is listed as o National Historic Monument and on, both the
National and Caifforniz registers of historic places.

CEQA states in CCR Sectlon 15064.5 (2)(B) that a change which
demgclishes or materially alters in an adverse manner those physical
characteristics of an historical resource that aceount for Hts inclusion
in a locel register of historical resources may consiitute a substantial
adverse change in the significance of the resource. However, CEQA
also notes that the degree of potential adverse change can be
considered “proportionaie to the level of significance of an historic
resource” based on its relative tmportance in history.

The proposed worle on. the subject Property will be executed
consistent with the Secretary of the Inferior’s Standards Jor
Rehapiliiaiion, with the least possible loss of historic materials so that
the remaining character-defining featuree of the historic resources
will not be obscured, damaged or destroyed. All proposed changes
are reversible. As propesed the new worlk will not create o significant
change to the historlc bufiding and witl not cause a significant
adverse effect on the environment.

MITIGATION

The proposed project is in conformancs with the Secretary of the
Interier's Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties under
the standard for Rehabilitation. No mitigation ie needed for this

project.

Respecifully Submitted,
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Carme] Mission
Chronology of Construction/Restoration Dales
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